STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 20 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KENNETH JORDAN BELL,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001841

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Trial Court erred in instructing the jury that if the jury failed to reach a verdict on one of the charges against Appellant, a mistrial would be declared, the case would be retried, and the parties would “go through this whole process again;” the Trial Court erred by not clarifying that the jury's failure to reach a verdict on any one indictment would necessitate a new trial on that particular indictment, not a new trial of the entire case.

- II. The Trial Court erred in excluding evidence that one of the alleged victims and a co-defendant had entered into a previous drug transaction for which the alleged victim owed the co-defendant money and that the reason the co-defendant and Appellant went to the alleged victim's apartment was to collect money for this drug debt; the evidence was relevant and admissible because (1) it was a part of the *res gestae* of the alleged crime; (2) it had bearing on the Appellant's intent in going to the alleged victim's apartment and whether Appellant had the required *mens rea* for the charges against him; and (3) it showed bias on the part of the alleged victim for which Appellant was entitled to confront him with on cross-examination. Furthermore, the probative value of this evidence was not substantially outweighed by any prejudicial effect to the State's case and to the alleged victim, especially where the Trial Court had already allowed the jury to hear that the alleged victim had previously been convicted of drug charges.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 28, 2013, Appellant Kenneth Jordan Bell was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for (1) first degree burglary; (2) armed robbery; (3) kidnapping; (4) possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; and (5) criminal conspiracy. R.376.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury on August 12-15, 2013. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Gregory M. McCollum, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Nancy R. Livesay. R. 1.

After the jury sent out two notes inquiring what would happen if the jury could not agree on one charge and what would happen if the jury was deadlocked on one charge, the Trial Court gave the jury an Allen¹ charge. R. 344, l. 24 – 354, l. 8; Court's Exs. 8 and 10. The jury thereafter returned with a guilty verdict on all counts. R. 356, l. 22 – 357, l. 16. Judge Couch sentenced Appellant to (1) fifteen years for first degree burglary; (2) ten years for armed robbery; (3) ten years for kidnapping; (4) five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; and (5) five years for criminal conspiracy. All sentences were to run concurrently. R. 372, ll. 15-24; Sentencing sheets.

Appellant timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal.

¹ Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 2, 2013, Christopher Tanner Clark was living in an apartment with two roommates, Paul Degruccio and Scott McDonald. The apartment had three bedrooms and two bathrooms and was located on the second floor. R. 32, l. 18 – 34, l. 1.

During the middle of the day on February 2, 2013, Clark called 911 because he heard a commotion out in the living room. He poked his head out of his bedroom and said he immediately saw two guys coming inside the apartment. One of the guys had a gun. He could not really see the other guy. He said both guys had on black hoodies and blue jeans. He could not see their faces or tell if they were white or black. Clark immediately shut his bedroom door and called 911. While he stuck his head out of his bedroom door, he never came completely out of his bedroom. R. 34, l. 5 – 35, l. 7; 39, l. 20 – 40, l. 1 – 11.

Clark told the 911 operator that two guys had just busted in and one had a gun. He claimed he saw the guys put the gun to his roommate's face and tell him to sit down in the chair. He then heard the guys take his roommate Paul back to Paul's bedroom and heard the guys arguing with Paul in his bedroom. Clark heard Paul continue to argue with the guys and ask why are you doing this. R. 35, ll. 17-25; 42, ll. 18-24. Other than that, Clark did not see anything, he just heard everything going on inside the apartment. R. 36, ll. 1-2.

Clark did not hang up with 911 until after he looked out his window and saw the police arrive. R. 36, ll. 3-7. He could see the guys walking to a red Mitsubishi, and he observed police ordering them to the ground and arresting them. R. 48, ll. 3-14. Clark's 911 call was played for the jury. R. 38, ll. 5-6.

Clark described who was present in the apartment on February 2, 2013. Erik Meijer was in the living room playing video games on his computer. Paul was in his

bedroom, and Scott was in his bedroom asleep. Clark was in his bedroom at the time too. They were all playing video games. Clark, Paul, and Scott all lived in the apartment, but Erik did not. R. 38, ll. 16 – 2; 54, ll. 15-16.

On cross-examination, Clark admitted that no one threatened him that day or pointed a gun at him. He also testified that no one took any property from him even though he owned valuables such as a flat screen television, a computer, and an Android smart phone. R. 50, l. 23 – 51, l. 17. He acknowledged that during the incident no one attempted to come into his bedroom or even tried to jiggle the door handle. R. 52, ll. 4-9.

Clark confirmed that his roommate Scott was asleep through the whole entire incident and had to be woken up after the two guys were arrested. R. 52, l. 10 – 53, l. 14. He also reiterated that Erik Meijer was in the living room during the entire incident and that to his knowledge, no one took anything from Erik. R. 53, l. 17 – 54, l. 11.

Clark further confirmed that the incident took place during the middle of the afternoon while the sun was shining. He said the apartment was “pretty well lit” during the daytime. R. 56, ll. 3-15.

Clark also testified that when he saw the two individuals come into the apartment, his roommate Paul was at the time looking out the window of the foyer area. R. 57, l. 1 – 14. Clark testified that since the incident, he learned that Paul owed money to Christopher Bell, one of the two men who entered the apartment that day. Clark said that Paul was the only one who owed Christopher Bell any money – not Clark, Scott or Erik. R. 63, ll. 2 – 14. Clark said that after the incident, Paul told him his laptop and a digital camera were taken from him. R. 63, l. 15 – 64, l. 2.

Clark heard Paul arguing with one of the individuals who entered the apartment. He heard Paul arguing back to one of the individuals. It sounded like Paul was mad and upset that the incident was taking place. R. 64, ll. 3 – 25.

Paul Degruccio testified that February 2, 2013 started off kind of like a normal day. He received a telephone call from a female identifying herself as Jasmine, a friend of Paul's. Based on this telephone call, he expected Jasmine to come over to his apartment. R. 70, ll. 12 – 71, l. 17; 72, ll. 2-11. Paul said he felt a little fishy about the situation because he was not too close to Jasmine and she was being really friendly. Erik convinced Paul that he should hang out with Jasmine because Paul had been cooped up in the house too much. R. 72, ll. 14-23.

Paul texted Jasmine the directions to his apartment. He waited for Jasmine to arrive at his apartment. He then received a text that she was at the apartment, so he went and cracked the door and was looking out the window into the parking lot for someone. He said he did not see anyone until the door was busted open and there were two individuals behind him, one with a tire iron and one with a gun. R. 73, ll. 3 – 22.

Paul said he did not remember what the individuals were wearing, but claimed both were wearing masks and one had a gun and one had a tire iron. R. 75, l. 6- 76, l. 2. He said the individual with the tire iron told him to “give me all your shit.” When Paul heard the voice, he recognized it as Christopher Bell's voice. At that point Christopher Bell took off his mask, and Paul knew him as Christopher Bell. R. 76, ll. 3 - 19. Paul testified that Christopher Bell was holding the tire iron and the other guy was holding the gun. R. 76, ll. 20-24.

Paul claimed Appellant pointed the gun at him several times. R. 77, ll. 4-6. Paul said Erik was also in the living room sitting on the couch when this happened and Erik just stayed there. R. 77, ll. 10-16.

Paul said that after Christopher Bell took his mask off, Christopher Bell first kind of pushed him into the chair and then Christopher Bell took Paul into his bedroom basically telling Paul that he was going to give Christopher Bell whatever he had. R. 77, ll. 17-24. Paul claimed the other individual with the gun, who was still masked at the time, stood in the living room with his gun trained on Erik so that Erik could not leave. R. 77, l. 25 – 78, l. 2.

Paul testified that he and Christopher Bell went into his bedroom and Christopher was rummaging through Paul's stuff and throwing Paul's things around. Paul was upset about the situation, particularly due to his past history with Christopher Bell. Paul was talking to Christopher Bell. Paul said he owed Christopher Bell money for something and that the two had talked a couple of months back about the money owed. R. 78, ll. 5-11.

While Paul was arguing with Christopher Bell about their past, the other individual with the gun allegedly came into Paul's bedroom, stuck the gun in Paul's face and told him to sit down. R. 78, ll. 14-25. Christopher Bell began asking Paul where his computer stuff was, and Paul said he gave Christopher Bell his laptop and camera. Paul testified that the two individuals then rushed out of the apartment with his laptop and camera. R. 80, l. 19 – 81, l. 2.

With respect to the money that Paul owed Christopher Bell, he said that before February 2, 2013, the last time he discussed owing money to Christopher Bell was two to three months prior when Paul ran into him at the Food Lion. Paul walked up to Christopher

and apologized for what had happened and said he just did not have the money to pay Christopher back. He said that Christopher did not threaten him or act hostile toward him at that time. R. 83, ll. 5-25; 86, l. 22 – 87, l. 1. Christopher did tell him at the time that he would like the money. R. 84, ll. 24-25. Paul testified that he had known Christopher Bell for a couple of years. R. 85, ll. 3-4.

On cross-examination, Paul admitted that he owed Christopher Bell around \$800. R. 100, ll. 3-11. Paul also admitted that he had a felony conviction, and the Trial Court allowed the jury to hear that Paul had been previously convicted for possession of marijuana with intent to distribute. R. 100, ll. 12-14; 19, l. 25-125, l. 7.

What the Trial Court did not let the jury hear was that when Paul was arrested and charged with possession with intent to distribute marijuana, the drugs that Paul was arrested for were given to him by Christopher Bell. R. 189, l. 14 – 190, l. 1. Those drugs were the reason why Paul owed Christopher Bell money and why Christopher Bell came to Paul's apartment that day to collect the money. R. 118, ll. 1-4. Paul had paid Christopher \$800 for a half of a quarter-pound of marijuana but still owed Christopher a remaining \$800. Therefore, Paul had only paid Christopher half of what was owed for the drugs. Paul was unable to pay the remaining \$800 because he was arrested and the police seized the marijuana. R. 118, l. 3 – 119, l. 12. While the Trial Court believed this testimony could be relevant to the charges for which Appellant was on trial, the Trial Court would not allow the jury to hear this proffered testimony of Paul. R. 122, l. 11 – 124, l. 2.

On cross-examination, Paul again admitted to having a heated discussion with Christopher Bell during the incident. He agreed that Christopher and Appellant had no words or heated discussions with the other individuals in the apartment – Clark, Erik, and

Scott. R. 126, l. 12 – 127, l. 23. Paul also agreed that only his property was taken and no one took any property of Clark, Erik, or Scott. R. 127, l. 24 – 128, l. 12; 158, ll. 13-15. Paul received no physical injuries during the incident. R. 128, ll. 15-16.

Erik Meijer testified that he was at Paul's apartment the day of the incident and occasionally stayed the night there every once in a while even though he did not live there. R. 161, ll. 7-12. On the day of the incident, he was hanging out with Paul in Paul's bedroom when Paul received a text from the girl that was supposed to be coming over to the apartment. Paul then ushered Erik out of the bedroom and into the living room. Erik was just sitting in the living room. Erik said Paul unlocked the front door and lightly cracked it and was looking out the front window when out of the blue two people busted through the door wearing masks, one with a gun and one with a tire iron. R. 161, ll. 13 – 23.

Erik said he noticed the black masks and the silver of the gun but did not pay too much detail to what the individuals were wearing. R. 162, ll. 16 – 23. He said the gun was mainly pointed at Paul, although Erik testified that the gun made a quick pass by him. R. 162, l. 24 – 163, l. 4. Erik testified that the individuals at first had Paul sit down in a chair and then after Paul identified Christopher Bell, Christopher took his mask off and led Paul back to Paul's bedroom while Appellant stayed where he could look down the hallway and watch Erik at the same time. R. 163, ll. 5 – 10. Erik testified that while Appellant was standing in the hallway, most of the time he just had his arms crossed and was not pointing the gun at Erik but just watching him. R. 164, ll. 4 – 8. Erik never left the living room and saw the two individuals walk out the front door. R. 166, ll. 2 – 6.

Erik testified on cross-examination that he had his own laptop with him at the apartment on the day of the incident that was worth about \$1300 but no one took it or any

other valuables from him that day. R. 171, l. 15 – 172, l. 24. It was Christopher Bell who walked out of the apartment with Paul's laptop and camera. R. 174, ll. 8 – 15. Erik was not physically harmed during the incident. R. 174, ll. 16-17. Scott never woke up during the incident and that no one tried to enter Scott's room. R. 174, ll. 18-25. Erik agreed that the only person who had property taken was Paul. R. 175, ll. 1-3.

Officer Natalie Boyd of the Horry County Police Department was dispatched to the scene where she saw two subjects in black hoodies, blue jeans and socks over their shoes, one about to enter the driver's door of the red-colored vehicle and one about to enter the back passenger door. She ordered the subjects to the ground and also observed a female passenger already seated in the front passenger seat of the vehicle. All three subjects were placed in handcuffs. R. 175, l. 17 – 181, l. 8. Officer Boyd identified Christopher Bell as the subject about to get in the driver's seat and identified Appellant as the individual about to get in the back passenger seat. The female in the front passenger seat was Tonie Pasquale. Officer Boyd said there was not a girl named Jasmine in the vehicle. R. 184, l. 11 – 185, l. 22.

Officer Boyd located a laptop and camera, as well as a black tire iron. She determined the laptop and camera belonged to Paul. R. 259, l. 20 – 260, l. 17. The tire iron was found under the front wheel of the vehicle by the driver's door. R. 193, l. 23 – 194, l. 4. A gun was found in the back floorboard area of the vehicle. R. 194, ll. 5-13. A .45 bullet was found in Appellant's left pocket. R. 194, ll. 14 – 18; 196, l. 12 – 197, l. 2. The gun was a .45 caliber. R. 197, ll. 3-6. Officer Boyd agreed that Appellant complied with her demands. R. 207, ll. 8-16.

Officer Timothy Cast of the Horry County Police Department testified that there were four rounds in the magazine of the gun and one live round in the chamber. R. 212, ll. 15-18; 222, ll. 21-25. When one round is in the chamber, the gun is ready to shoot and no extra steps have to be taken to fire the gun. R. 223, ll. 1 – 24. Officer Cast also admitted though that one way to unload a gun would be to move rounds into the chamber and take the bullets out of the chamber until the gun was completely empty. If someone was not finished unloading a gun this way, there could possibly be a round left in the chamber. R. 238, l. 18 - 241, l. 2. Therefore, just finding a round in the chamber of the gun would not necessarily mean that someone had a round in the chamber with the intent to shoot.

Appellant's mother testified that Appellant and his brother Christopher Bell were half-brothers who shared the same father. R. 254, ll. 5-8. She raised Appellant in Pittsburgh where he was a straight A student in high school and captain of the football and baseball teams. R. 252, ll. 19-22; 254, l. 17 – 255, l. 7. Appellant enlisted in the Air Force but a medical condition with his liver caused him not to complete basic training. He was eligible to re-enlist after the medical condition cleared. R. 257, l. 20 – 258, l. 21. Appellant eventually moved down to Horry County to live with another brother, but ended up associating with his half-brother Christopher. R. 260, l. 24 – 261, l. 11. Appellant's mother described Appellant as a very loyal person who was very protective of his family. R. 262, l. 19 – 263, l. 3.

Appellant's brother Buddy Bell testified Christopher Bell told Buddy that he, Christopher, had given Appellant the gun. R. 265, ll. 2 – 17.

After the case was given to the jury, the jury struggled with their verdict, twice sending notes to the trial judge inquiring what would happen if the jury could not agree on

one charge and what would happen if the jury was deadlocked on one charge. R. 344, l. 24
– 345, l. 2; 352, ll. 7-10; Court Exs. 8 and 10. The jury eventually convicted Appellant on
all charged counts. R. 356, l. 22 – 357, l. 16.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Trial Court erred in instructing the jury that if the jury failed to reach a verdict on one of the charges against Appellant, a mistrial would be declared, the case would be retried, and the parties would “go through this whole process again;” the Trial Court erred by not clarifying that the jury's failure to reach a verdict on any one indictment would necessitate a new trial on that particular indictment, not a new trial of the entire case.**

During its deliberations, the jury twice sent out notes to the Trial Court indicating that it was deadlocked on at least one of the charges:

What happens if there is one charge that the jury cannot agree on?

R. 344, l. 24 – 345, l. 2; Court's Ex. 8.

What happens if we are deadlock [sic] on one charge?

R. 352, ll. 7-10; Court's Ex. 10 (emphasis in original).

After the jury's second question, the Trial Court gave an Allen charge to the jury. R. 352, l. 11 – 354, l. 8. As a part of this charge, the Trial Court instructed the jury as follows:

If you do not agree on a verdict in this case, on one of the charges in that case, it would be my duty to declare what is referred to as a mistrial. In that case, it does not mean that anybody wins; it just means that at some point in the future time either I or some other judge will try this case with some other jury sitting where you now sit. The same participants will come, perhaps the same lawyers will ask basically the same questions and get basically the same answers and we will then go through this whole process again.

Now, you were selected in the same manner and from the same source as any future jury in this case would be chosen and there's no reason for me to believe or suppose that the case will ever be submitted to twelve more intelligent or impartial or conscientious or competent jurors than you, or that any more clearer evidence will be produced by one side or the other. So, what I'm going to ask you to do is to return to your deliberations. Consider what I've just said to you and again re-examine the positions in light of my charge in this matter. So, I'm gonna ask you to return to the jury room and continue your deliberations.

R. 353, l. 14 – 354, l. 8 (emphasis added).

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