ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001841

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH JORDAN BELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Officer Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

RECEIVED

JAN 15 2015

SC Court of Appeals

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's argument is not preserved, but even if preserved, the trial court properly delivered the current and correct law in its Allen charge to the jury when the jury asked what would happen if it was deadlocked on one charge.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in instructing the jury that if it failed to reach a verdict on one of the charges, a mistrial would be declared, the case would be retried, and the parties would “go through this whole process again.”² Specifically, he argues the trial court erred by not clarifying that the jury's failure to reach a verdict on any one indictment would not necessitate a new trial of all indictments. Initially, the State submits this issue is not preserved for review because Appellant did not object to the giving of the Allen charge, nor did he object to the sufficiency of the charge or ask the trial judge to clarify that only the charge it was deadlocked on would be retried rather than all the charges. Even if the court finds it is preserved, the trial court charged the current and correct law of South Carolina, which is all that is required. State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005).

Error in jury instructions is not preserved for review if the defendant fails to object. See Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (stating failure to object to the giving or failure to give a jury instruction shall constitute waiver of the objection); State v. Whipple, 324 S.C. 43, 52, 476 S.E.2d 683, 688 (1996) (noting the failure to object to a charge as given,

² It is worth noting the Allen charge the trial judge gave came directly from the current version of the Criminal Charges Bench Book, which the judicial department updates each year and distributes to judges and that is now published on the S.C. Judicial Department's website. <http://www.judicial.state.sc.us/juryCharges/GS%20InstructionsJune2013.pdf>.

or to request an additional charge when given an opportunity to do so, constitutes a waiver of the right to complain on appeal).

In State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 470 S.E.2d 106 (1996), the appellant objected after the trial judge had given one Allen charge and the State had asked for a second one based on the jury's question asking whether the six guilty verdicts would stand if it could not reach a unanimous decision on the other two. The trial court gave the second Allen charge, stating, "If you do not reach a verdict on the two counts, it would be a mistrial. The whole case would have to be tried over." Id. at 98, 470 S.E.2d at 108. The appellant did not object to the substance of the instruction. Id. On appeal, Pauling argued the trial judge incorrectly instructed the jury a failure to reach a verdict on two counts would necessitate a new trial on the entire case. Id. at 100, 470 S.E.2d at 109. The supreme court stated, "Failure to reach a verdict on any count in the indictment would necessitate a new trial of the entire case to arrive at a verdict *on that particular count*["] acknowledging the instruction could be confusing. Id. But, because the appellant did not contemporaneously object to the substance of the charge, ask for clarification, or propose an alternate instruction, he denied the trial judge the opportunity to cure any alleged error and, thus, he was barred from raising the issue for the first time on appeal. Id.

In Pauling v. State, 350 S.C. 278, 284, 565 S.E.2d 769, 772 (2002), the supreme court found "counsel's failure to object to the trial judge's response to the jury's question concerning the result if it failed to reach a verdict on the murder charges was deficient." In that case, the trial judge's response to the jury's question was: "[Y]ou gave me a question. If you do not reach a verdict on the two counts, it would be a mistrial. The whole case would have to be tried over." The statement that the whole case would have to be tried over is not part of the standard Allen charge. Here, when the trial judge

responded to the jury's question, he began: "Now, ladies and gentlemen, you've stated to me that you've been unable to reach a verdict as to one of the charges in this case and as I instructed you earlier, a verdict in any of the charges must be unanimous." He then gave the standard Allen charge, which both attorneys had previously agreed to and defense counsel did not object to. Unlike Pauling, the trial judge here never stated "the whole case would have to be tried over." Rather, he merely stated the standard Allen charge language: "[I]t just means that at some future time either I or some other judge will try this case with some other jury sitting where you now sit. . . . and we will go through this whole process again." However, even if this Court determines the trial judge's statement during the Allen charge was confusing or erroneous, the issue is not preserved because defense counsel did not object to the charge, ask for clarification, or propose an alternate instruction.

Here, Appellant did not object to the substance of the jury instruction after the trial court gave the jury an Allen charge in response to its question about being deadlocked on one indictment. Appellant simply asked the trial judge, "If the Jury reaches verdicts, whether they be guilty or not guilty, on all those indictments with the exception of the one they seem to be referring to, could the Defendant be tried again?" (R. 354, lines 16-19.) The trial judge and Appellant then engaged in a discussion of double jeopardy and whether Appellant could be tried again. At no time did Appellant object to the Allen charge; indeed, he had already stated he had no objection to it when the jury first asked its question, and he also stated, "I understand the Allen Charge is well-grounded as the appropriate response" (R. 345, lines 3-6; R. 354, lines 23-25.) Additionally, Appellant did not make any specific objection regarding how the trial judge instructed the jury, nor did he request that the trial judge clarify any part of the instruction

to the jury or propose an alternate instruction. By not objecting to the charge specifically, Appellant waived his right to complain on appeal. See Pauling, 322 S.C. at 100, 470 S.E.2d at 109. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant's argument also fails on the merits. "Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina." Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865. "A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law." Id. The trial court gave the jury a charge that reflected the current and correct law in South Carolina, based on the language of Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 17 (1896). Unlike in State v. Pauling, the trial judge did not confuse the jury by telling them the whole case would have to be tried again. He adhered to the accepted Allen charge and emphasized to the jury numerous times that each verdict was separate. Thus, the trial judge properly instructed the jury and should be affirmed.

Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than

abuse of discretion. State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997).
 the admissibility of evidence and his decision should not be disturbed absent prejudicial
 401 S.C. 82, 736 S.E.2d 263 (2012). The trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on
 when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." State v. Brown,
 abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or,
 judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. An
 "The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial

the reason for the debt, which was the prior drug transaction with the codefendant.
 owed to the codefendant without offering unnecessarily prejudicial testimony regarding
 trial court correctly limited the testimony to allow the victim to testify regarding a debt
 the trial court allowed the jury to hear the victim had a drug conviction. However, the
 evidence was not substantially outweighed by the prejudicial effect, especially because
 been allowed to confront him about. Additionally, he argues the probative value of the
 the victim's apartment, and (3) bias on the part of the victim that Appellant should have
 been admitted to show (1) the *res gestae* of the crime, (2) Appellant's intent in going to
 victim owing the codefendant money. Specifically, he argues the evidence should have
 previously engaged in a drug deal with Appellant's codefendant, which resulted in the
 Appellant argues the trial court erred in excluding evidence that one of the victims

The trial court correctly allowed testimony to be presented that one of the victims owed a debt to the codefendant; however, the trial court properly limited the testimony so that details of a previous drug transaction, the reason for the debt, were not disclosed.

it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina.” Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 35, 538 S.E.2d 248, 256 (2000). The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record, and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case. State v. Brooks, 341 S.C. 57, 62, 533 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2000). Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision made on an improper basis, such as an emotional one. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 127, 551 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2001). “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. We review a trial court’s decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court’s judgment.” State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, ___, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

In its ruling on the State’s pretrial motion to exclude evidence that Paul DeGruccio was convicted of PWID marijuana and that the debt he owed to Appellant’s codefendant was the result of a drug transaction between the two, the trial court recognized Appellant’s right to confront and to present any potential defenses. Consequently, the trial judge allowed evidence of the debt to come in to support Appellant’s defense that Appellant and his codefendant only went to the apartment to collect a debt. However, he limited the testimony such that the source of the debt, the prior drug deal, would not come in. Specifically, the trial judge found the prejudicial

effect of characterizing the debt as stemming from a drug deal outweighed the probative value.

Appellant argues the trial court incorrectly conducted the balancing test under Rule 403, SCRE, because it did not use the phrases “substantially outweighed” or “unfair prejudice.” However, upon review of several appellate cases from South Carolina, these magic words do not seem to be necessary. For example, in State v. Grovenstein, 340 S.C. 210, 219, 530 S.E.2d 406, 411 (Ct. App. 2000), in discussing Rule 403, SCRE, this Court found, “Although relevant, the admission of this type of evidence is still subject to a determination of whether the prejudicial effect of the evidence outweighs its probative value.” This Court then quoted the rule. Similarly, in Collins, 409 S.C. at ___, 763 S.E.2d at 28, in determining this Court should not have invaded the trial court’s discretion in admitting photographs, the supreme court stated, “The evidence was highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the element of the offenses charged; its probative value outweighed its potential prejudice . . .” (emphasis added). The Court then pointed out in a footnote that it disagreed with this Court that the trial court did not conduct its own Rule 403, SCRE, analysis. See also State v. Williams, 405 S.C. 263, 747 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2013) (“[E]vidence should be excluded when its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.”). As is clear from these cases, a Rule 403 balancing test need not include specific language from the rule in order to meet the requirements, as long as the record shows the trial court thoroughly considered the arguments of counsel and weighed the prejudicial effect against the probative value of the evidence. See Collins, 409 S.C. at ___ n.4, 763 S.E.2d at 28 n.4. Indeed, a finding that evidence should be excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, due to its prejudicial effect necessarily entails a

conclusion that “the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.”

Later, during DeGruccio’s testimony, Appellant argued again that the trial court should allow testimony that the debt was related to a previous drug deal between DeGruccio and the codefendant. The argument was presented in combination with Appellant’s argument that DeGruccio’s conviction for PWID marijuana should be admitted for impeachment under Rule 609, SCRE. During Appellant’s cross-examination of DeGruccio, he asked if DeGruccio had a felony conviction, and the State objected. The trial court excused the jury and held a discussion as to whether the conviction could come in. After Appellant unsuccessfully argued PWID was a crime of dishonesty and should come in under subsection (a)(2), the trial court considered it under subsection (a)(1) and conducted a balancing test, finding the probative value did not outweigh its prejudicial effect. The only new ruling that took place at this point in the trial was in Appellant’s favor: the trial court’s allowing DeGruccio’s conviction for PWID marijuana to come in. The fact the trial court did not allow any reference to the debt stemming from the drug deal connected to that charge was simply the continuation of a ruling the court had already made pretrial. And, as explained above, the trial court’s ruling that the probative value of the source of the debt did not outweigh the prejudicial effect was proper under Rule 403, SCRE.

Appellant’s specific arguments for why the evidence of DeGruccio’s owing a drug debt to his codefendant should have been admitted are that it would have shown: (1) the *res gestae* of the crime, (2) Appellant’s intent in going to the victim’s apartment, and (3) bias on the part of the victim that Appellant should have been allowed to confront him about.

Res Gestae

“The *res gestae* theory recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged, or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.” State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 512, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582 (1999). Under *res gestae*, evidence of other crimes is admissible:

when such evidence “furnishes part of the context of the crime” or is necessary to a “full presentation” of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its “environment” that its proof is appropriate in order “to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the ‘*res gestae*’” or the “uncharged offense is ‘so linked together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other . . .’ [and is thus] part of the *res gestae* of the crime charged.”

Id. at 512-13, 514 S.E.2d at 582-83 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). While evidence that the codefendants went to the apartment for the purpose of collecting a debt is certainly part of the *res gestae* of the crime, the source of the debt—a prior drug transaction—was not necessary to a full presentation of the case.

Appellant cites State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996), and State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996), to support his argument that the drug transaction was part of the *res gestae*. However, both cases emphasize the contemporaneity requirement, which is not met here. In Adams, the supreme court found the evidence of drug use immediately prior to the robbery was properly admitted as part of the *res gestae*, emphasizing “the *temporal* proximity of the cocaine use to the robbery and murder is so close that one cannot deny that the cocaine use was so much a part of the ‘environment’ of the crime that omitting the evidence of it would unnecessarily

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